
City of Keene
New Hampshire

KEENE CITY COUNCIL
Council Chambers, Keene City Hall 

July 2, 2020
7:00 PM

Roll Call
Pledge of Allegiance

MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING

• June 18, 2020

A. HEARINGS / PRESENTATIONS / PROCLAMATIONS

1. Presentation - KSC President Melinda Treadwell - The Return of KSC Students and the 
Proposed Social Host Ordinance

B. ELECTIONS / NOMINATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / CONFIRMATIONS

1. Confirmations
Conservation Commission
Historic District Committee

2. Nomination
Human Rights Committee

C. COMMUNICATIONS

1. David Crawford - Police Officers and Firearms

2. Let It Shine - Request for Use of City Property - Pumpkin Festival

3. Kristin Finnerty - Requesting to Discharge Fireworks on Private Property

D. REPORTS - COUNCIL COMMITTEES

1. Derek and Linda Stone – Requesting Permission to Remove Trees on City Property

2. Dog Warrant for Unlicensed Dogs – City Clerk

3. Melanson Heath FY19 Audit Presentation - Finance Director

4. Acceptance of Donation - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director

5. Acceptance of NH Juvenile Court Diversion Network Funding for Youth Services - Youth 
Services Manager

6. Tracy Keating Gunn/Flight Deck Restaurant - Request for a Waiver of Rent Payments 
and Property Taxes for the Months of March Through June 

hfitz-simon
Text Box
Due to the COVID-2019 State of Emergency, the City Council will be holding its meetings remotely using the web-based program, Zoom.  City Councilors will be participating in this meeting remotely.  Members of the public will be able to access this public meeting through a variety of options, described below. If you encounter any issues accessing this meeting, please call 603-757-0622 during the meeting.   To view the City Council meeting please use the following links:  To view the webinar navigate to Zoom.us and enter the Meeting ID# 861 3359 7726  To listen via telephone call (877) 853-5257 and enter the Meeting ID# 861 3359 7726 



E. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS

F. REPORTS - CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS

G. REPORTS - BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

1. Bee City USA – Conservation Commission

H. REPORTS - MORE TIME

1. Petition - Calling for the KPD to be Outfitted with Body Cameras

I. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING

J. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING

1. Amendment to the Zoning Map – Properties on Krif Road and Winchester Street
Ordinance O-2020-04

2. Relating to Personnel Systems and Procedures
Ordinance O-2020-07

K. RESOLUTIONS

L. TABLED ITEMS

1. Relating to an Appropriation of Funds for Gilbo Avenue Infrastructure Improvements
Resolution R-2020-06-A

Non Public Session
Adjournment



























City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 15, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Mayor George S. Hansel

ITEM: B.1.

SUBJECT: Confirmations

COUNCIL ACTION:
In City Council June 18, 2020.
Tabled until the next regular meeting.

RECOMMENDATION:
I hereby nominate the following individuals to serve on the designated board or commission:
 
Conservation Commission
John Theriault, alternate slot 10               Term to expire Dec. 31, 2023
76 Bradford Road
 
Historic District Committee
Hope Benik, slot 6                                    Term to expire Dec. 31, 2022
44 Probate Street
 

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Background_Therriault

Background_Benik



Patty Little 

.,om: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Patty Little 
Saturday, January 04, 2020 8:42 PM 
Patty Little 
Fw: Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission 

From: helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us <helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us> on behalf of City of Keene <helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us> 
Sent: Wednesday, January 1, 2020 6:21 PM 
To: Helen Mattson 
Cc: Patty Little; Terri Hood 
Subject: Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission 

<p>Submitted on Wed, 01/01/2020 - 18:20</p> 
<p>Submitted values are:</p> 
First Name: 
John 

1 =-st Name: 
,erriault 

Address 
76 Bradford Road 
Keene, NH 03431 

Email: 
 

Cell Phone: 
508-717-9997 

Home Phone: 
603-903-0213 

Please select the Boards or Commissions you would be interested in serving on: 
Ashuelot River Park Advisory Board, Conservation Commission, Planning Board 

Employer: 
Retired 

:tcupation: 
Forner General Manager at Janos Technology 

1 



Education: 
BS in Ocean Engineering, US Naval Academy and MBA Binghamton University 

Have you ever served on a public body before? 
No 

Other Information/Relevant Experience: 
I am the former Chair of the Keene City Republican Committee and the Cheshire County Republican 
Committee. I am a Beekeeper and the Treasurer of the Monadnock Beekeepers' Association. 

Please provide some references: 
Marilyn Huston 

 
603-352-3302 

References #2: 
Jane Lane 

 
603-355-9166 

If would like to, please provide your resume 
Keene City Council Introduction 2019.docx 

2 



Patty Little 

From: 
Sent 
To: 

helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us on behalf of City of Keene < helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us> 
Thursday, May 21, 20iO 4:35 PM 
Helen Mattson 

Cc: Patty Little; Terri Hood 
Subject: Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission 

<p>Submitted on Thu, 05/21/2020 - 16:35</p> 
<p>Submitted values are:</p> 
First Name: 
Hope 

Last Name: 
Benik 

Address 
44 Probate Street, Keene, NH 03431 

Email: 
 

Cell Phone: 
773-425-2419 

Home Phone: 
773-425-2419 

Please select the Boards or Commissions you would be interested in serving on: 
Historic District Commission 

Employer: 
Paragon Digital Marketing 

Occupation: 
Digital Marketing Team Lead 

Education: 
Some college 

Have you ever served on a public body before? 
No 

Other Information/Relevant Experience: 
Grew up in the architecturally rich city of Chicago, where I was employed at a large architecture firm, OKW 
Architects, for 6 years as Marketing Coordinator. Duties included photography of projects and assembly of 
award submittals, including historical preservation projects. Moved to Keene 7 years ago and have fallen in love 
with the downtown area and would be thrilled to be a part of preserving it's character and history. Can bring 
digital marketing experience on board to support and promote the awareness of the commission's mission and 

1 



purpose through social media channels. 

Please provide some references: 
Zach Luse, Employer 
zach@paragondigital.com 
603.399.6400 

References #2: 
Hans Porschitz 

 
603-892.:1543 

2 



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 30, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Mayor George S. Hansel

ITEM: B.2.

SUBJECT:Nomination

RECOMMENDATION:
I hereby nominate the following individual to
serve on the designated Board:
 
Human Rights Committee
Ritu Budakoti, slot 10 alternate Term to expire Dec. 31, 2023
15 Skyview Circle

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Background - Budakoti



RITU BUDAKOTI  
15 Skyview Circle 
603-479-6508 

  
 
 

I have spent the majority of my professional life working in the field of Education. I am 
an experienced International School Educator. Currently teaching at the Keene Middle 
School. I am happy to share that I am also one of the ten recipients of the Exceptional 
Teacher Award 2020, which was recently announced.  

Having worked internationally, I understand the need for including community voice in 
any policy that we plan that impacts our community. I find myself confident, an effective 
communicator, a strong team player, and also a professional who believes in building 
positive relationships with all respective stakeholders for future sustainable 
partnerships. 

 My personal philosophy is what we focus upon expands. I have been an active 
community member who is working to make Keene community stronger and better. As 
a founder and President of Keene India Association, I have worked with a group of 
like minded individuals to plan and undertake many successful events that impacted the 
community positively. I have gained extensive experience in building effective networks 
within this community and outside. We have collectively raised funds for planning and 
manifesting many successful events in Keene. Service before self has been my 
personal mantra and I work collaboratively with all stakeholders to make Keene an 
amazing place to be.  

I am also fortunate to be a Co- Chair of the Keene International Festival Planning 
committee, KIF is a community event which is organized annually with a vision to 
recognize and celebrate cultural diversity and strengthen our Keene Community. 

Service before self is the mantra that I live by, and I do everything possible to work 
toward achieving this personal goal. Serving on the board of the Historical Society of 
Cheshire County (HSCC), is one of the ways that I contribute my time and experience 
to build our community.  

I will be honored to be on the Human Rights Committee and will do my very best to offer 
my insights and support and work towards the goals set by the committee to move our 
community in the right direction towards a more just world, where peace prevails 



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 26, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: David Crawford

THROUGH:Patricia A. Little, City Clerk

ITEM: C.1.

SUBJECT:David Crawford - Police Officers and Firearms

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Communication - Crawford

BACKGROUND:
David Crawford is recommending that firearms be optional equipment for Police Officers.





External Communication
Transmittal Form

June 30, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Ruth Sterling/Let-It-Shine

THROUGH:Patricia A. Little, City Clerk

ITEM: C.2.

SUBJECT:Let It Shine - Request for Use of City Property - Pumpkin Festival

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Communication_Let It Shine

BACKGROUND:
In light of COVID-19, Let It Shine is recommending that the Pumpkin Festival go forward with a program that
requires no street closures and jack-o-lanterns lined up snug to the buildings in front of the downtown stores
and restaurants. The program would take place on Saturday, October 24 with a preview on Friday, October 23.



In the HeART of Downtown Keene

PumpkinFestival.org
c/o Sterling, 214 Washington Street
Keene, NH 03431

June 23, 2020

Honorable Mayor and City Council,

In a year when trick-or-treating and getting together to carve pumpkins may not be possible, we hope we have 
found a way to carry on the tradition of Keene Pumpkin Festival. Celebrating what is unique about Downtown 
Keene, NH, and continuing to give school children a chance to create jack-o’-lanterns are the basis of this event 
proposal and license request. And in a year when small businesses have been hard-hit, helping to safely attract 
customers to Keene’s Downtown businesses is at the heart of the proposal.
 
The Board of Keene Pumpkin Festival—Let it Shine Inc.—feels a responsibility to offer a bright spot on the autumn 
horizon and attract community members to experience and patronize our Downtown businesses. We are 
envisioning...
 
A program involving no street closures (and a limited budget) displaying jack-o’-lanterns lined up snug to the 
buildings in front of downtown stores and restaurants, like a ribbon visually tying together our Downtown. We 
envision 5-20 pumpkins in front of each Downtown establishment (depending on the length of storefront) so people 
could mill the sidewalks and see the pumpkins and be drawn into the shops and restaurants. 
 
After gauging interest, the number of participating establishments would be matched with participating carvers, or 
could create their own jack-o’-lanterns. The model for this program would be similar to Artwalk, where 
preregistered carvers would be assigned to exhibit in front of a specific store/restaurant.
 
The scale of school pumpkin distribution would be limited, and the amount of pumpkins shared with each school 
would be smaller—for example, 20 per school. These student carvers would be matched with a Downtown site. Let it 
Shine would organize the matching of carvers and establishments and would assist with delivery, set-up and, if 
necessary, clean-up.
 
In order to maximize the benefit to Downtown businesses, the group is proposing this program take place on 
Saturday, October 24, with a preview Friday, October 23.
 
This proposal is based on what we know now and can be re-evaluated as new information becomes available. As Tim 
Zinn has commented, “No one has a crystal ball,” but we are proposing a scalable plan incorporating social 
distancing and a small school distribution program.
 
An additional virtual component would allow families and others to carve pumpkins, photograph their creations 
and share them on the Keene Pumpkinfest Facebook page, which currently has 15,000+ fans. The plans for an online 
”festival” are early in the brainstorming phase but would likely include Instagram and possibly a Pinterest gallery.

This re-imagined program is not intended as a model for future Keene Pumpkin Festivals. In fact, Let it Shine’s 
original 2020 license request included an option for the return of the spectacular pumpkin tower at the head of 
Central Square. But with so many unknowns to try to consider, this license request may make it possible for 
Downtown Keene to shine in October 2020.

We look forward to working with City officials and community members in the months ahead.

Respectfully,

The Board of Let it Shine (Tim Zinn, Ruth Sterling, Nancy Hickox, Shaundi Brown and Jacob Weststrate)

Statement of Purpose: Keene Pumpkin Festival is a 
community-hosted, family-friendly celebration of fall and of 
what is unique about New Hampshire. It is also a celebration 
of artistry and creativity and a demonstration of our 
commitment to non-profit efforts to serve those in need. 

Let it Shine, Inc., Nonprofit organizers of Pumpkin 
Festival 2011-2014, 2015, 2017 -2019



CITY OF KEENE  
USE OF CITY PROPERTY APPLICATION 

STREET FAIR/EVENT LICENSE 

Applicant/Sponsoring Organization Information: 

NAME OF ORGANIZATION: 

APPLICANT NAME: 

ADDRESS: 

DAYTIME PHONE: ( ) EVENING: ( ) FAX #: (        ) 

E-MAIL:

DAY OF EVENT CONTACT NAME AND CELL NUMBER:__________________________________________ 

Special Event Information: 

SPECIAL EVENT ON CITY PROPERTY STREET FAIR 

DISCHARGE OF FIREWORKS 

_______SERVING OF ALCOHOL AT A CITY FACILITY - please specify location  ______HEBERTON HALL 

        ______COMMUNITY ROOM 

PARADE, WALK-A-THON, OR BIKE/FOOT RACE REQUIRING STREET CLOSURES/POLICE 
ASSISTANCE 

OTHER (please specify) 

EVENT TITLE:  

EVENT DATE(s): ESTIMATED ATTENDANCE: 

LOCATION OF EVENT:  

DURATION OF USE (INCLUDING SET UP/BREAKDOWN): from:   AM  /  PM  to: AM  /  PM 

HOURS OF ACTUAL EVENT:    from: AM  /  PM   to: AM  /  PM 

DESCRIPTION OF EVENT: 

Please attach additional sheets as necessary 

STREET CLOSURES/DETOURS REQUESTED: 

Please attach additional sheets as necessary 

Let it Shine, Inc.

Ruth Sterling

214 Washington Street, Keene

603   352-4410

Ruth.Sterling@gmail.com

x

Ruth Sterling, Tim Zinn 603 209-4179

Keene Pumpkin Festival

10/24/2020 and possibly 10/23/2020 5,000 or less

Downtown Keene sidewalks

6pm FRI 9pm SAT

Noon SAT 8pm SAT

A family-friendly display of jack-o'-lanterns

None anticipated

Replacing the event plan used in 2017, 2018 and 2019, we are proposing that the 2020 event be a scalable, 
carefully-managed plan involving no street closures, incorporating social distancing, and a smaller pumpkin-
carving program for schools. In order to maximize the benefit to Downtown businesses, this program could take 
place on Saturday, October 24, with a preview Friday, October 23.

ruthsterling
Highlight

ruthsterling
Highlight

ruthsterling
Highlight

ruthsterling
Highlight

ruthsterling
Highlight



CITY OF KEENE  
USE OF CITY PROPERTY APPLICATION 

STREET FAIR/EVENT LICENSE 

Is this the first time your organization has sponsored this event?         Yes   No 

If not, has the person(s) in charge of organizing the event changed since it was last applied 

for?       Yes   No 

For events that have been held previously, has the City provided any support or services to 

your event?   Yes   No 

If so, please describe: ____________________________________________________________         

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

DETAILED MAP OF PROPOSED EVENT FOOTPRINT:  Please provide as an attachment to your application a 
single line sketch/drawing of the layout of the event. On the sketch/drawing include sidewalks/streets/lanes to be 
closed and/or blocked, locations of vendors (merchandise, food, etc.), display tables, or other encumbrances, and 
identify areas of activities (start lines, finish lines, attractions, etc.). 

PLEASE INDICATE WHETHER THE FOLLOWING ITEMS PERTAIN TO YOUR EVENT: 

  YES   NO 

WILL ACTIVITIES AND ATTENDEES BE ENCUMBERING THE  
TRAVELED PORTION OF ANY PUBLIC WAY, STREET OR LANE? 

FOOD CONCESSIONS AND/OR OUTDOOR COOKING 

USE OF PROPANE 

_______  _______  OUTDOOR BURNING (CAMPFIRE) 

SET UP OF TABLES AND CHAIRS (if so, how many): 

DOES THE EVENT REQUIRE ACCESS TO CITY ELECTRICAL? 

         (location): 







x

x

x

x candles

x

x

We envision this event requiring very few, if any, KPW, KPD or KFD services.
 



CITY OF KEENE  
USE OF CITY PROPERTY APPLICATION 

STREET FAIR/EVENT LICENSE 

  YES   NO 

DOES THE EVENT REQUIRE ACCESS TO CITY WATER? 

(location): 

BOOTH(S), EXHIBIT(S), DISPLAY(S) AND/OR ENCLOSURE(S) 

(if so, please describe):  
(Use a separate sheet if necessary) 

CANOPY(IES) AND/OR TENT(S) (please provide number of set-ups and 

their dimensions): 

SCAFFOLDING, BLEACHER(S) OR OTHER STRUCTURES 

(if so, please describe):  
         (Use a separate sheet if necessary) 

CHILDREN’S CARNIVAL OR INFLATABLE RIDES (please describe number, 

type, location, dimensions and proposed means of anchoring):  

VEHICLE(S) AND/OR TRAILER(S) (if so, how many): 

WILL YOUR EVENT ENCUMBER METERED PARKING SPACES? 

(if so, please  provide number, location, and what they’ll be used for):  

PORTABLE TOILET(S) (if so, how many): 

ENTERTAINMENT (if so, please describe):  

BANNERS OR TEMPORARY SIGNAGE 

WILL THE EVENT BE ADVERTISED? (if so, how?): 

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

calendar listings, Facebook listings, NO PAID ADVERTISING 



CITY OF KEENE  
USE OF CITY PROPERTY APPLICATION 

STREET FAIR/EVENT LICENSE 

  YES   NO 

SOUND AMPLIFICATION (if yes, indicate start/end times): 

OTHER MISCELLANEOUS INFORMATION YOU WISH TO PROVIDE PERTAINING TO THIS EVENT: 

(Protocol meetings will be held with the applicant as necessary to seek further details relative to 
the request for a license and/or funding for City services.  Please be aware, the City may place 
additional conditions or requirements on the event at its sole discretion to ensure public safety) 

x

A program involving no street closures, displaying jack-o’-lanterns lined up snug to the buildings in front of 
downtown stores and restaurants, like a ribbon visually tying together our Downtown. We envision 5-20 
pumpkins in front of each Downtown establishment (depending on the length of storefront) so people could 
mill the sidewalks and see the pumpkins and be drawn into the shops and restaurants. After gauging interest, 
the number of participating establishments would be matched with participating carvers, or could create their 
own jack-o’-lanterns. The model for this program would be similar to Artwalk, where pre-registered carvers 
would be assigned to exhibit in front of a specific store/restaurant.
 

The scale of school pumpkin distribution would be limited, and the amount of pumpkins shared with each 
school would be smaller—for example, 20 per school. These student carvers would be matched with a 
Downtown site. Let it Shine would organize the matching of carvers and establishments and would assist 
with delivery, set-up and, if necessary, cleanup.
 
An additional virtual component would allow families and others to carve pumpkins, photograph their 
creations and share them on the Keene Pumpkinfest Facebook page, which currently has 15,000+ fans. The 
plans for an online ”festival” are early in the brainstorming phase but would likely include Instagram and 
possibly a Pinterest gallery.



 

CITY OF KEENE  
USE OF CITY PROPERTY APPLICATION 

STREET FAIR/EVENT LICENSE 
 

 
What is General Use of City Property? 
 
General use City property is defined as the use of public property for a specified duration, 
including but not limited to use of city parking spaces, city sidewalks or rights-of-way, or 
facilities.  It also includes the sale or service of alcohol on city property, which in addition to 
requiring City permission, shall also be in compliance with the requirements of the state liquor 
commission. 
 
Obtaining a License 
 
The City Clerk is the licensing authority for general uses of City property that have a minimal 
impact on the public.  Events that are larger in scale may be referred to the Keene City Council for 
license approval.  To obtain a license, the applicant must complete an application that is submitted 
to the City Clerk's Office along with the applicable fee.  The applicant will also need to submit a 
certificate of liability insurance listing the City of Keene as an Additional Insured.  
 
Licenses issued by the City Clerk 
 
The City Clerk's Office will initiate a review process with various City departments to determine 
licensing conditions.  If deemed necessary, the applicant may be asked to attend a safety protocol 
meeting with City staff to determine public safety needs. Once the review process had concluded, 
the applicant will sign an indemnification agreement and the City Clerk will issue the license.    
 
 
 
Licenses Requiring City Council Approval  
 
If upon initial review of the application it is determined that City Council approval is needed, the 
applicant will submit a cover letter to the City Clerk's Office addressed to the Honorable Mayor 
and City Council.  The applicant will be invited to a meeting of the Planning, Licenses and 
Development Committee to discuss their request.  In addition, safety protocol meeting(s) will be 
scheduled with City staff to determine public safety needs.  The City Clerk's Office assists 
applicants through the process and helps to facilitate communication with the City Council and/or 
the various City departments.  Once the review process has concluded, the applicant will sign an 
indemnification agreement and the City Clerk will issue the license.    
 
Licenses issued under this section of the City Code are date specific.  There is no application fee 
for this type of license; however, if City resources are required to ensure safety, these costs are 
passed along to the applicant. 
 
To review the regulations relative to this type of license, please go to the Keene City Code at the 
following web address: 

https://www.municode.com/library/nh/keene/codes/code_of_ordinances 
Chapter 46 is the Licensing Chapter. 

 

https://www.municode.com/library/nh/keene/codes/code_of_ordinances


 

CITY OF KEENE  
USE OF CITY PROPERTY APPLICATION 

STREET FAIR/EVENT LICENSE 
 

 
What is a Street Fair? 
 
As define by NH Statute 31:100 Street Fairs. – The selectmen of a town or governing body of a 
city may grant a license in writing to any person or persons to use and occupy a portion of any 
street or sidewalk, as may be designated in general or in specific terms, for the purpose of 
conducting thereon street fairs or other community events, including but not limited to the sale of 
merchandise by commercial retailers, or by community associations conducting street fairs or other 
promotions. Such licenses may include the right to encumber the designated area with boxes, 
shelves, stands and other devices useful in conducting such sales and shall be issued for not in 
excess of 3 consecutive business days. Licenses may also be subject to such other terms and 
conditions, to be expressed in the license, as the public convenience and safety may require. 
 
Obtaining a License 
 
The Keene City Council is the licensing authority for Street Fair Licenses.  To obtain a license, the 
applicant must complete an application that is submitted to the City Clerk's Office along with a 
certificate of liability insurance listing the City of Keene as an Additional Insured and a cover 
letter addressed to the Honorable Mayor and City Council.  The applicant will be invited to a 
meeting of the Planning, Licenses and Development Committee to discuss their request.  In 
addition, safety protocol meeting(s) may be scheduled with City staff to determine public safety 
needs.  The City Clerk's Office assists applicants through the process and helps to facilitate 
communication with the City Council and the various City departments.  Once the review process 
has concluded, the applicant will sign an indemnification agreement and the City Clerk will issue 
the license.    
 
Licenses issued under this section of the City Code are date specific.  There is no application fee 
for this type of license; however, if City resources are required to ensure safety, these costs are 
passed along to the applicant. 
 
To review the regulations relative to this type of license, please go to the Keene City Code at the 
following web address: 

https://www.municode.com/library/nh/keene/codes/code_of_ordinances 
Chapter 46 is the Licensing Chapter. 

 

https://www.municode.com/library/nh/keene/codes/code_of_ordinances


City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 30, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Kristin Finnerty

THROUGH:Patricia A. Little, City Clerk

ITEM: C.3.

SUBJECT:Kristin Finnerty - Requesting to Discharge Fireworks on Private Property

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Communication - Finnerty

BACKGROUND:
Kristin Finnerty is requesting a permit to set off fireworks on her property at 163 Liberty Lane on July 4, 2020
and July 18, 2020 between 8:00 PM and 10:00 PM.  She indicates that th fireworks will include some of the
permissible fireworks in NH, such as aerial, shells and ground spinners.





City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 24, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee

ITEM: D.1.

SUBJECT:Derek and Linda Stone – Requesting Permission to Remove Trees on City Property

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 4-1, the Municipal Services, Facilities & Infrastructure Committee recommends that Derek and
Linda Stone be authorized to remove several trees in front of their property at 31 Andover Street at their
expense.   Councilor Williams was opposed.

BACKGROUND:
Chair Manwaring welcomed Derek Stone who was calling from the property in question, 31 Andover Street,
Keene, with his wife Linda Stone present. Mr. Stone explained that there are four City trees on his private
property, two on each side of his driveway. In 2016, the Stones were concerned about one of the trees closer to
the road and thought that the City should remove it. At that time, the Highway Superintendent, William Byrne,
visited the property to assess the trees and he did not think the trees required removal at that time. Mr. Stone
said that Mr. Byrne had stated at that visit that if the trees needed removal, the City would be responsible for the
trees and the property owner would be responsible for property damage, such as to the driveway. Mr. Stone
said he questioned what would happen if one of the trees fell on a person or car, for example, and stated that
Mr. Byrne said to contact the City if that happened. Mr. Byrne told Mr. Stone that he could also petition City
Council to remove the trees at his own expense.
 
Today, Mr. Stone stated that his beautiful driveway of more than 30 years is damaged by roots of the trees in
question. Over the years, he has repaired the damage to his driveway manually at his expense but the cracks
have progressed into two areas of approximately 3’x 4’ and 5’x 11’, respectively, which need to be repaired
again. Mr. Stone said that the trees have continued deteriorating since 2016, citing significant moss buildup that
has resulted in the trunks sagging, and he fears the old trees damaging the property further or hurting a person.
If the dead areas were pruned from one area in particular, he said that an aesthetic void would remain. He said
that an arborist, Jeff Garland, visited and saw how the tree roots are extending into the driveway. Mr. Stone
noted that he received three different estimates and said that all agreed that the two trees close to the house
should come down and that the one tree close to the road that Mr. Byrne assessed in 2016 should come down
as well. As such, Mr. Byrne visited again and Mr. Stone said he agreed that the tree needed to be removed and
that a new tree could be planted at the City’s expense. Mr. Stone believes that the City saw leaves on the trees
in 2016 and did not look as closely as they should have. The Stones requested that City Council permit them to
remove the trees, which they said would be replanted. Forty photos of the property were available for reference
through the City Clerk’s office.
 
Vice Chair Giacomo referenced one of the submitted photos in which he noticed flags in the yard and asked
their purpose. Mr. Stone said that Dig Safe flagged areas of concern if tree removal progressed; he added that
Dig Safe staff said that Mr. Byrne is overwhelmed with tree issues.



 
Chair Manwaring requested Staff comments. The Public Works Director & Emergency Management Director,
Kürt Blomquist, shared aerial and street photos of the site and provided background. In the 1970s and early
1980s, the City developed a tree-planting program in response to the Dutch elm disease. With private property
owner permission, the program allowed the City to plant trees within 20’ of property lines outside the City right-
of-way. The Public Works Director said that in 1974, this property’s owner entered this agreement and had the
four trees in question planted on their property, giving the owner general responsibility of the trees minus
emergency City maintenance in case of hazard. Ultimately, if a property owner wanted to remove one of the
trees, they were to contact the City. The Public Works Director said City Code dictates that Council
permission is needed to remove healthy trees planted through this program or otherwise in the City right-of-way.
In general, if a property owner requests removal of a tree in this program, he said that the Public Works
Department could find a reason to remove the tree, like age. Sometimes, he said that a property owner requests
to remove a healthy tree and Mr. Byrne consults an arborist to determine tree health. The Public Works Director
said that the arborist consulted in this instance, Mr. Garland, is someone the City works with on occasion. In
this case, Mr. Garland reported that the trees are healthy and provided trimming recommendations to maintain
good health. Because the trees are healthy, the City would not remove these trees. The Public Works Director
said that the Stone’s concerns regarding pavement damage are valid. He said that in most cases in which a
property owner has sought Council permission to remove a tree with potential to damage private property,
Council has granted. In a few instances, Council has denied the requests because the only reason was the
owner not liking the trees.
 
Chair Manwaring asked what type of trees these are. The Public Works Director said there are two multi-stem
red maples, one multi-leaf red maple, and one single-boled red maple. When this program began in the 1970s,
maple trees were chosen because of their tall height, wide canopies, and quick maturity.
 
Vice Chair Giacomo was unable to find Mr. Garlands up-to-date NH Arborist Association License #105, and
asked whether that matters; the Association had yet to reply to him. The Vice Chair said he questioned less Mr.
Garland’s knowledge and more the potentially outdated license. The Public Works Director said he would
inquire and noted that Mr. Garland has been the arborist at Keene State College for many years as well. Mr.
Stone said he was disappointed that Mr. Garland did not identify unhealthy areas of the trees beyond noting
some tree roots 2”-3” above the surface. The Public Works Director said exposed tree roots indicate the trees
are crowded and the only remedy is to cover the roots with more soil. Chair Manwaring said she saw green
leafy trees in the photos.
 
Vice Chair Giacomo moved to recommend that Derek and Linda Stone be authorized to remove several trees in
front of their property at 31 Andover Street at their expense, which Councilor Filiault seconded.
 
Councilor Williams said that he drove past the property and the trees did not look to him worse than any others
around. He was concerned with setting a precedent for cutting many trees. He said that Keene is a City within a
forest and he is leery of things that damage the forest, like cutting mature trees. While new trees can be planted,
the Councilor said that it is hard to replace 40-50 year-old trees. He understood the frustration about a cracked
driveway but said that we live in a forest and sometimes must accommodate trees in the ecosystem around us.
 
Councilor Filiault said that Council periodically sees similar requests and if Staff has no major objections, the
requests are granted. He has never experienced a large series of requests after granting this permission. Because
Staff did not object, the Councilor said he also did not object.
 
Vice Chair Giacomo said he also drove past the property and agreed with Councilor Williams’ assessment, but
said it seemed like asking Council for permission in the context of this program was simply a formality. He
questioned the phrasing of the aforementioned motion and asked whether the language should read as, “four
trees,” instead of, “several trees.” He understood removing two or three of the trees, but he could not see
damage to or understand removal of the smaller tree. Mr. Stone said that if the larger trees were removed, the



small one would be aesthetically displeasing, with too few branches and leaves. Mr. Stone continued to say that
he was not guaranteeing that all four of the City’s trees would come down, but he wanted the option.
 
Councilor Filiault asked whether the Public Works Director looked at the trees recently. The Public Works
Director said no but he is familiar with the trees, and while he did not have sufficient knowledge to determine
what trees are damaging the driveway, he would assume those immediately adjacent are the culprits. Councilor
Filiault was uncomfortable guessing about these trees based on possibly inaccurate information and suggested
placing the matter on more time. The Public Works Director was unsure what more information he could gather
for the Committee because it is hard to know what tree is causing the damage and while the owner was asking to
remove all four trees, they might not take all at once. With the current motion under discussion, the Public
Works Director said the background notes could indicate that the petitioner should work with the Public Works
Department as they remove the trees. He said that all four trees are a concern for the Stones and Chair
Manwaring agreed it was clear they were interested in all four.
 
Vice Chair Giacomo said that the Stones only need permission to remove these trees because the City planted
them on private property. He thought the Committee might be making too much of the matter and so he did not
amend his motion.
 
On a vote of 4-1, the Municipal Services, Facilities & Infrastructure Committee recommends that Derek and
Linda Stone be authorized to remove several trees in front of their property at 31 Andover Street at their
expense.  Councilor Williams was opposed. 



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 24, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee

ITEM: D.2.

SUBJECT:Dog Warrant for Unlicensed Dogs – City Clerk

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities & Infrastructure Committee recommended that City
Council issue a warrant for unlicensed dogs pursuant to NHRSA 466:14, and the Animal Control Officer be
directed to issue a civil forfeiture to those dog owners who have failed to license their dog by April 30, 2020.

BACKGROUND:
Chair Manwaring welcomed the City Clerk, Patricia Little, who was at the meeting regarding the annual warrant
for unlicensed dogs. Ms. Little explained that annually, per state statute, City Council must vote to authorize the
Keene Police Department to issue forfeitures – a $25 fine – for owners who have failed to license their dogs.
Due to Covid-19, the Clerk’s office has found two things affecting the number of dogs on this warrant: 1) the
Clerk’s office being closed for face-to-face business until accepting appointments in the last few weeks, and 2)
vet’s offices being similarly closed except for emergencies until recently, forcing some rabies vaccinations to be
delayed. A dog cannot be licensed without an up-to-date rabies vaccination. As a result, there are several
hundred more owners on this list than previous years with many vets booked through July/August. As such, the
Clerks have removed from this list owners whose dogs remain unlicensed solely due to expired rabies and are
working with those owners case-by-case if those owners notify the Clerks in writing. Therefore, the City Clerk
requested Council authorization for issuance of a civil forfeiture for unlicensed dogs pursuant to NHRSA
466:14.
 
Councilor Filiault spoke with his vet and they were concerned because they were getting reports from angry dog
owners of rabies information they sent to the Clerk’s office not making it into the system. He assumed a glitch
somewhere in the system due to Covid-19. The City Clerk reiterated that if a dog’s rabies was still due and the
owner worked with the Clerk’s office, they would not be fined. She said it was conceivable that vets were not
sending rabies information for the past few months due to Covid-19 and she shows discretion if a problem can
be found in the flow of information. She said the Clerk’s office is not interested in fining dog owners. Councilor
Filiault was concerned with the April 30 date in the motion irritating constituents and was glad that Staff was
using discretion.
 
As opposed to showing discretion, Councilor Williams asked whether the deadline can be extended a few
months, and the City Clerk said that was not authorized under state law.  
 
Vice Chair Giacomo questioned whether the motion should mention formally the rabies delay. The City Clerk
said that was unnecessary because dogs that remained unlicensed due to rabies vaccination delay were removed
from this warrant list.
 



Vice Chair Giacomo made the following motion, which Councilor Filiault seconded.
 
On a vote of 5-0, the Municipal Services, Facilities & Infrastructure Committee recommended that City
Council issue a warrant for unlicensed dogs pursuant to NHRSA 466:14, and the Animal Control Officer be
directed to issue a civil forfeiture to those dog owners who have failed to license their dog by April 30, 2020.



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 25, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committe

ITEM: D.3.

SUBJECT:Melanson Heath FY19 Audit Presentation - Finance Director

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends accepting the Melanson
Heath FY19 Audit Presentation as informational.

BACKGROUND:
Finance Director Merri Howe began by introducing Ed Boyd and Brian McDermott from Melanson Heath. Mr.
McDermott addressed the committee and stated the audit went well and the pandemic caused the presentation
to be late. He thanked the Finance staff for their assistance with this process. He indicated they found the
finance books and records to be in good working order, no disagreement in generally accepted accounting
practices, and as of 6/30/19 they offered an unmodified opinion. The city also presents a Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which is a more extensive public document with good historical data. 

Mr. McDermott went on to say the City received the Certificate of Achievement for excellence for financial
reporting, which he indicated was a great accomplishment. 

Mr. McDermott stated he would like to provide the committee with the financial hi-lights. He indicate the most
important item on a financial statement is the General Fund, Unassigned Fund Balance. Over the last four years
this number has trended well – the city has gone from a 7.4 million dollar fund balance in 2016 to a 10.7 million
balance in 2019 – 9.8% which is within the financial policy the city has adopted. 

The utilization of capital reserves continues to trend as well - $860,000 was put into capital reserves while
utilizing close to $650,000 in capital reserves. This is a committed fund balance, where money is used for a
specific purpose. The city funding capital with existing resources is also a positive item and is looked at as a
credit strength. 

City’s Debt – Is very manageable from a credit rating perspective – seven million dollars during 2019 – paying
off about 90% of the debt in ten years is looked at positively and this is what is looked at for AAA communities
(75% is what is required – the city is at 90%). 

Enterprise Funds – The Water Fund is paying 75% of the debt in ten years and the Sewer Fund 
90% of the debt in ten years – which again exceeds the expectation. 

Long Term Liabilities – For the net pension liability the city is at a little bit less than 1% member of the NH
Retirement System which is about 64% funded as of 6/30/18 which represented a liability of approximately 34
million dollars (down three million from the prior year). Mr. McDermott noted this is not something unique just



to Keene. He added if good things happen between now and 2039 this number could be brought down to a
zero. He noted the entire country is trying to grapple with how to deal with pension. The rating agencies are
aware of this. 

OPEB Liability (Other Post Employment Benefit) – Related to retiree health care. Even though retirees pay
100% of the premium, the rate is what is driving this liability. Having the retiree group in the city’s overall pool,
the current employees are subsidizing the pool and this is what causes the liability for the city. He noted there
are more structures that are going to be out in place moving forward. 

Councilor Clark asked how the market is responding to the tax receipts municipalities are not getting because of
Covid-19. Mr. McDermott stated this is a focus point and noted there is an appetite to use more of the fund
balance than has happened in the past and it is understood there is going to be a lot of pressure on the revenue
side. 

Councilor Ormerod referred to unreserved fund balance and asked whether there is an expectation to use this to
compensate for revenue now and whether this is the best use of those funds or should the city stretch out its
payables like most companies would do during these times. Mr. McDermott stated for AAA rating using fund
balance will not be a good idea. He indicated perhaps the city should not be that reactive and make some
tougher decisions – use some of the fund balance but stay within the financial framework; look at what the
immediate needs are, put together a budget that is conservative, look at where state aid is going to be. He did
not feel pushing out payables would help a lot as these vendors are going to want to get paid eventually. The
Councilor stated the reason he brought up payables is because there is legislation to provide relief from
property taxes, extending a helping hand to people who owe the city. Mr. McDermott stated initially there was
the hope the Cares Funding would help with revenue shortfall but that has not happened yet. He went on to say
the Heroes Act is supposed to get some traction in July. The hope is that the legislature is going to be able to
step in and bridge the gap. 

City Manager, Elizabeth Dragon was the next speaker who stated it has been pointed out to her that New
Hampshire’s revenue is more stable compared to other states because New Hampshire is not reliant on sales or
income tax; New Hampshire’s revenue which relies on property tax has been stable. The only fund that has had
an impact so far is the parking fund where adjustments were required. She indicated staff will be monitoring
municipal aid numbers and necessary adjustments will need to be made but these numbers are holding steady.
She went on to say with reference to Rooms and Meals Tax for the recent budget that was approved, the
Governor’s Office has assured the city those numbers will remain. She added if we see a revenue dip it will be
in the following year and the city will be closely monitoring what is happening with property taxes compared to
last year. Taxpayers have the ability right now to pay property taxes late for three months without a penalty. She
added if the city wanted to get to the AAA rating this would be a good conversation to have with the city’s
financial advisor. 

Ms. Howe thanked the team at Melanson Heath, especially Brian McDermott, the finance staff and department
heads. She stated the city will not be able to receive this award without their assistance. 

Councilor Clark what the city’s current rating was. Mr. McDermott it was AA. 

Councilor Hooper made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Clark.
 
On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends accepting the Melanson
Heath FY19 Audit Presentation as informational.



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 25, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: D.4.

SUBJECT:Acceptance of Donation - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City Manager be
authorized to do all things necessary to accept a donation of $2,500.00 from Community Gardens Connections
and that the money is allocated for the installation of a water line to the community gardens in Monadnock View
Cemetery.

BACKGROUND:
Parks Recreation and Facilities Director, Andrew Bohannon addressed the committee next. Mr. Bohannon
stated the city has a community garden behind the Monadnock View Cemetery (three rows). These rows are
prepped and ready every May and individuals are charged $25 per lot where they grow their own vegetables. He
indicated during these times of food security for many the city wanted to increase awareness of the gardens. He
indicated the Community Garden Connection is based out of Antioch University who have provided
community gardens for many nonprofit organizations. 

This $2,500 donation will be used to run an irrigation line from the building to the garden (200 feet). This will
eliminate the need for running hoses and also the ability to control water usage. 

Councilor Hooper made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Clark.
 
On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City Manager be
authorized to do all things necessary to accept a donation of $2,500.00 from Community Gardens Connections
and that the money is allocated for the installation of a water line to the community gardens in Monadnock View
Cemetery.



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 25, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: D.5.

SUBJECT:Acceptance of NH Juvenile Court Diversion Network Funding for Youth Services - Youth
Services Manager

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City Manager be
authorized to do all things necessary to accept and administer funds provided by New Hampshire Juvenile
Court Diversion Network for Youth Services programs.

BACKGROUND:
Mr. Bohannon addressed this item as well and noted this grant has been accepted in the past and it has been for
a total of $8,000. This year it has been reduced to $6,000 for work related to substance use screening. He
indicated the Youth Services Manager, Dimitria Kirby has done a great job working with the Tobacco Program
Manager at the Cheshire Medical Center and has created programs for such things as to curb vaping. The
program was doing well until Covid-19 hit but she has continued to work on this program and conduct classes
online. 

He went on to say the reimbursement is based on evidence-based substance use screening tool for youth and
the city gets reimbursed $250 per screening and each screening sent into the state for up to $6,000. 

Councilor Clark stated this is the type of program he plans to discuss in the next few months and questioned
why the city has to wait for grants to do this kind of work. He felt these types of preventative measures need to
be included in the upcoming budgets and not have to rely on grants. 

Councilor Hooper made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Clark.
 
On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City Manager be
authorized to do all things necessary to accept and administer funds provided by New Hampshire Juvenile
Court Diversion Network for Youth Services programs.



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 25, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: D.6.

SUBJECT:Tracy Keating Gunn/Flight Deck Restaurant - Request for a Waiver of Rent Payments and
Property Taxes for the Months of March Through June

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 4-1, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the request be denied.

BACKGROUND:
Ms. Tracy Keating Gunn addressed the committee. She indicated a letter was forwarded to the council and
explained her business was closed for over two months and noted the city was provided with grant funding
through the Cares Act for the Airport due to loss of revenue and because she is one of the businesses at the
airport, she would like to be compensated for some of the losses she incurred while she was required to be
closed. She noted since she wrote the letter the city has contacted her and has waived the May rent. 

Ms. Keating Gunn stated they are open now and are doing well with limited hours and limited staffing. 

Ms. Dragon stated Ms. Keating Gunn is correct in that the council agreed to waive the rent for all leaseholders
for the month of May (less property taxes) who were impacted by Covid-19. The leases at the airport are a little
different as their property taxes are paid to the Town of Swanzey. She indicated at this point she does not feel
anything more than what has already been approved by Council should be extended as she felt all leaseholders
should be treated equally. She noted the one month waiver cost the City $10,000. Ms. Dragon went on to say
there was also other funding coming from the state such as the Main Street Relief Program and stated the city
has been encouraging all businesses to sign up for this. 

Councilor Clark asked Ms. Keating Gunn to respond to what the Manager had stated about applying for the
state funds. Ms. Keating Gunn stated she applied for it but this is based on losses and added she also applied
for the PPP Loan and noted such loans are not often geared toward restaurants as they are based on payroll.
Ms. Keating Gunn went on to say she is not asking her other landlords for relief as they were not provided any
grants for loss of business but the reason she is asking the Airport is because they were given funds for loss of
revenue. 

Councilor Remy asked what other loss of revenue was incurred at the airport and added his understanding is
that the Cares Act was meant to offset loss of landing and fees etc. Ms. Dragon agreed the Cares Act funding
was not meant for reimbursement for leaseholders; it is for city operations and expenses the city incurred.
Similarly, the ambulance service was also afforded Cares Act funding which was meant for Medicaid payments.
She added the funding was based on a particular formula. 

Councilor Hooper made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Remy.



On a vote of 4-1, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the request be denied.
Councilor Clark voted in opposition.



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 25, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Conservation Commission

THROUGH:Rhett Lamb ACM/Community Development Director

ITEM: G.1.

SUBJECT:Bee City USA – Conservation Commission

RECOMMENDATION:
Chair Von Plinsky moved to recommend that the City Council approve a resolution to become a “Bee City
USA,” which Mr. Bill seconded, and the motion passed by unanimous roll call vote.

BACKGROUND:
Chair Von Plinsky discussed how to move this initiative forward with Councilor Williams and John Therriault,
who was calling alone from his home address. Councilor Williams said that there was much discussion at the
last meeting of what a Bee City could do but not what it would do specifically. Before defending the idea to
City Council, the Councilor wanted to understand better the types of projects, the workload for this
Commission, and the support that would be needed from City staff.
 
Mr. Therriault said that being a Bee City has three minimal annual requirements: 1) one project enhancing
pollinator habitat such as improving a City park with pollinator forage; 2) one educational event that could be as
simple as a school field trip to the observation hive at Stonewall Farm; and 3) review City policies and
procedures to ensure pollinator friendliness such as during Parks Department lawn management. He said it is
not a constant activity but rather raising awareness and improving pollinator habitat incrementally.
 
Councilor Williams asked how the three elements – education, habitat building, and policy – would be
determined. Would this Commission as an entity be responsible for organizing and implementing the education
and habitat aspects, or would the Commission identify and sponsor such projects implemented by non-profit
organizations, for example? The Councilor was concerned about the Commission’s responsibility in identifying
projects and ensuring they are executed to meet these Bee City requirements. Regarding the task to review
policies and procedures, Councilor Williams said it is a great idea but he was unsure whether a plan/timeline
would be needed for it to be clear to Council that the City, and specifically this Commission, would be
reviewing those policies. Policy changes require public comment and Council support.
 
Mr. Walker asked for examples of specific projects from the Bee Cities of Burlington, VT and Durham, NH.
Mr. Therriault could not provide examples from those cities because neither had not submitted on time their
2019 annual reports. Other 2019 reports from cities in the south describe enhancing park areas and rehabilitating
roundabouts with pollinator gardens. In Keene, he posited that small portions of lands overseen by the
Conservation Commission could be improved with pollinator habitat and developed as educational areas. If
Council approved becoming a Bee City, Mr. Therriault said it simply means that anytime the Commission
considers an action, that they question whether it is pollinator friendly on a case-by-case basis. Mr. Therriault



had not yet heard from the Mayor about joining the Conservation Commission as an alternate member to act as
the Bee City point-of-contact.
 
Mr. Bill asked if the Commission would be obligated to run education events or to foster someone else doing
so. Mr. Therriault said that he leads events routinely at local schools so it would be no additional work for him.
 
Mr. Bergman said that Peter Hansel and Laura Andrews in west Keene received a grant from the Cheshire
County Conservation District for pollinator gardens. He recalled that Mr. Therriault offered to pay the annual
$200 Bee City USA fee and he asked whether that is possible in City policies. Mr. Lamb said that could occur
through the donation process to City Council, however, he was unaware of instances of donations directly to a
specific use, but he was unsure why it could not occur.
 
Mr. Madison wondered whether some requirements like education must be implemented by the City or if non-
profit support could be leveraged, such as Stonewall Farm or the Cheshire County Conservation District. Mr.
Therriault said yes, that the role as Bee City is more as a facilitator.
 
If Keene were a Bee City and wanted to improve pollinator habitat in a roundabout, for example, Mr. Reilly
asked who would pay for that work. Mr. Therriault said that some roundabouts are already sponsored by
businesses or groups that might be amenable to making those improvements, which require minimal input. For
example, effective pollinator patches only require a minimum 4’x4’ area to attract most pollinators.
 
Mr. Bergman said that it would be eventually important to assess the effectiveness of a project like this to
determine whether pollinator populations were improved by such efforts. Mr. Therriault said that would be a
good opportunity to collaborate with the University of New Hampshire, which already conducts pollinator
studies; Mr. Bergman said they might have ideas about optimal planting as well.
 
Mr. Bill suggested that the Ashuelot River Park would be a good place for pollinator projects because there are
already many sponsored garden beds there.
 
The Chairman said it sounded more like a matter of coordination without hitting the City’s budget.
 
Councilor Williams asked who would be responsible for creating the annual report. Mr. Therriault assumed that
he would as the Commission’s Bee City point-of-contact. The Chairman considered the long-term, when Mr.
Therriault’s time on the Commission ends, and said that it would be a general responsibility of the Commission
and whoever takes his place. Mr. Therriault said it is not actually writing a report but answering nine-computer
screens of questions that generate a report, which in his experience takes about one hour of work. Councilor
Williams does not only want a report submitted to Bee City but also made available so that the citizens of
Keene know about this work; he thought the whole Commission should have input on the responses before a
report is final.
 
Councilor Williams was comfortable moving this matter back to the Municipal Services, Facilities, &
Infrastructure Committee with comments from these meetings’ minutes for Council review. The Chair, Mr.
Lamb, and Mr. Therriault could help participate in those conversations.
 
Chair Von Plinsky moved to recommend that the City Council approve a resolution to become a “Bee City
USA,” which Mr. Bill seconded, and the motion passed by unanimous roll call vote.



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 25, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: H.1.

SUBJECT: Petition - Calling for the KPD to be Outfitted with Body Cameras

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends putting this item on more
time.

BACKGROUND:
Chair Powers stated there was a Petition on this item turned into the Clerk’s Office with a number of signatures,
many of whom were residents of Keene. The Council accepted the Petition at its last meeting and forwarded it
to the Finance Committee for their consideration. The Chairman stated the committee would let the public
weigh in on this item but would like to keep it to this topic. 

Lynne Carrion of Keene Direct Action was not comfortable providing her address due to some negative issues
she has experienced during the last few weeks. She indicated she was a resident of Ward 2. Ms. Carrion
indicated she was concerned about the size of the Police Department’s budget and none of it being allocated for
any type of cameras. She indicated she as well as others have experienced negative interactions with the Keene
Police Department. She noted a friend of hers was threatened with the use of the Bear Cat by a police officer.
716 people have signed this petition so far and felt of the 7.8 million dollar KPD budget, a portion could be for
body cameras and dash cameras. 

Ms. Fernandez-Anderson who was also not comfortable providing her address stated she is from Ward 4
agreed with what Ms. Carrion just said, and went on to say that other communities of similar demographics as
Keene, allocate for body cameras. The Town of Bedford with a population size of 21,203 in 2019 when Keene
was at 23,000 had a 4.66 million budget while Keene was at 7.26 million. She noted Bedford only has 64% of
Keene’s budget for a similar population. In other words, Keene spends nearly $310,000 per capita on its Police
Department whereas Bedford only spends $202,000 which is 35% less than Keene and they had money to
provide for body cameras. She went on to say Keene Direct Action contacted Bedford who confirmed the use
of body cameras and the police announce the use of cameras during traffic stops. 

Laura Dunfey Ehrenburg of Ward 2 stated during the past few months we have seen police officers use brutal
force on peaceful protestors. She went on to say the reason for this behavior by the police in her opinion was
that police do not want to be held accountable for their actions. While this is not happening in Keene and they
do not expect it she felt this should be a concern for this community as well as to protect the safety of this
community especially people of color who are under-represented. 

Councilor Clark stated this discussion happened in 2015 and at that time staff raised the issue about privacy –
for instance if they were to enter a house during a call if children were to be present. He questioned if staff still



had those concerns. Chair Powers agreed with Councilor Clark and added what he would like to see done
today is to move this item forward by gathering information as there are a lot of ramifications attached to this
item; there are cases when cameras are necessary and cases when they are not. He asked for the Manager’s
comments. 

Ms. Dragon agreed this discussion happened in 2015, a lot has changed since then and staff is likely to ask this
item be put on more time. She asked for the Police Chief’s input. 

Police Chief Russo stated the challenges raised back in 2015 still exist; however, technology has changed since
that time and so have certain laws. He asked that this item be put on time to look at right to know exemptions,
implementation, procedures and policies and training. He felt the best way to accomplish this is through a
research committee and asked for a six-month period to complete this review. 

Councilor Hooper agreed this was a complex issue and needed to be discussed. He recalled this discussion in
2015 and there were concerns raised about cost and privacy. He felt the forming of a committee suggested by
the Chief was a good idea and agreed with placing the idea on more time. 

The Manager added in discussion with the Chief they felt it would be necessary to have various stakeholders on
this; members from the ACLU, IT, residents, a police officer, and the City Attorney. She indicated there will be
diverse opinions on this issue and added it is difficult to compare communities. Keene is a community that
serves two colleges and is a HUB community. 

Councilor Ormerod referred to Ms. Anderson Fernandez and indicated population is one item the city would be
looking at, but there are also other issues as has been mentioned by the Manager and would welcome data from
other comparable cities in nearby States – Vermont and Massachusetts as well. He also asked what sort of
measurable data the city will be looking at – how does the city know this is working. Chair Powers felt this was
a question that should be posed to the committee that would working on this item. He added there are already
procedures set up on this issue by the Attorney General’s Office. He also added you cannot compare one
city’s budget with another – it is reported differently. Keene is a city, Bedford is a town, their expenditures are
done by warrant and this is something that would need to be reviewed by Finance. 

Ben Schiffelbein of 74 Beech Street, Defense Attorney did not feel this was a difficult issue but agreed it was
expensive. He noted the Towns of Winchester and Hinsdale, smaller towns than Keene have body cameras, and
the Towns of Chesterfield and Jaffrey have dash cameras. He stated as a criminal defense practitioner his work
is eased a lot by viewing body and dash camera footage. He agreed Keene is different compared to these
communities but the laws are not different, and referred to what was stated regarding privacy issues – he agreed
this is true but most communities in the North Country have body cameras without much difficulty. Mr.
Schiffelbein stated the measurable is not with economics but the benefit is in regards to police accountability,
which the movement in the rest of the country is calling for. 

Chair Powers asked Councilor Ormerod whether his question was addressed. The Councilor stated he
understands the city will be addressing this issue but was looking for input from others and wanted to continue
to welcome those comments. 

A member of the Keene Direct Action addressed the committee again and stated the Petition calls for KPD to
be outfitted with body cameras as soon as possible and understands there are issues that need to be addressed
and this is what they are looking for from the elected officials. She felt this is a public safety emergency and
hoped the committee takes it seriously. 

Councilor Clark did not feel Keene needed six months to address this issue or that a committee was necessary.
He indicated many communities have this in place and is something that benefits everyone. He felt Council and
staff can get this done in a short time. He stated he learned during a recent video conference that there is



mistrust in the community for the Keene Police Department, and so felt anything Keene can do to alleviate that
mistrust should be addressed. The Councilor suggested this item be brought back in a few weeks and unless he
can be told otherwise, he felt the time has come to put this in place. 

Councilor Hooper stated he always supports moving things forward but felt this a big change for the city and
felt appropriate time should be taken to get the proper solution put forward. He felt there needs to be a valid
discussion and it should not be rushed. 

Councilor Hooper made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Clark.
 
On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends putting this item on more
time.



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 24, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee

ITEM: J.1.

SUBJECT:Amendment to the Zoning Map – Properties on Krif Road and Winchester Street

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 3-1, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends adopting Ordinance O-
2020-04. 

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Ordinance O-2020-04

BACKGROUND:
Chair Bosley reminded everyone that the City Council has held a public hearing on this matter and will not be
taking public input tonight.  She continued that Rhett Lamb, Community Development Director, is here to
answer questions as needed.  She asked if the committee has comments or questions about this agenda item.
 
Councilor Jones stated that he is opposed to this ordinance for a number of reasons.  He continued that as
mentioned at the Joint Committee meeting, by Councilor Greenwald, the City Council adopted a policy a
number of years ago saying there would be “no net loss of industrial zoning outside the bypass system.”  In the
presentation, yes, they heard about the Comprehensive Master Plan (CMP) but no one talked about the
economic development plan that the City Council adopted on October 4, 2019.  On page 9 of that plan under
“Appropriate Industries” is a carry-over from the 1993 plan, which calls for “addition of land suitable for
increased manufacturing capacity.”  Page 10 says “growth in local economy will require drawing industrial
development projects that will effectively expand the Keene tax base.”
 
Councilor Jones continued that he thinks this ordinance goes against all that was put into those plans.  They
also talked about the gateway, because this is a gateway area, at the Joint Committee.  He does not see how
changing from Industrial to Commercial helps the gateway at all.  Coming up Route 12 from Swanzey is a
gateway and it is commercial and he does not think there is anything pretty about it.  Coming south on Route 12
from Westmoreland means going right through an industrial zone and it is probably the most beautiful gateway
coming into Keene He thinks this ordinance goes against the City Council’s policies and he is opposed to it.
 
Chair Bosley stated that those are valid points.  She continued that she has thought about this a lot herself.  She
noted she wants to hear from Mr. Lamb regarding those statements.
 
Mr. Lamb stated that this was one of the important pieces of their review.  He continued that many of the
principles in prior master plans, including the one about “no net loss of industrial land,” were paramount in
staff’s minds as they evaluated this change.  They tried to cover the subject well in the Joint Committee review.



Staff’s take on it is: the only elements of industrial being given away, by changing from Industrial to Commerce
Limited, are the smokestack industries that no one is building anymore.  In that location you can no longer do
an asphalt plant, smelter, tannery, forge, explosive manufacturing, and so on and so forth, but you can still do
assembly or manufacturing or the type of industrial uses they want to encourage in that location. Commerce
Limited is a hybrid district. It does allow manufacturing elements while it also allows larger commercial
operations such as car dealerships that require a lot of outdoor storage.  Staff thinks the change is not as drastic
as it would seem with respect to the loss of industrial activities. If it were truly running against that he thinks
staff would have identified that as a large concern from the beginning.  They think Corporate Park meets the
needs of the City, in terms of the possibility of industrial activity taking place there, and allows the current
applicant to move forward with a use that tends more toward the commercial side.
 
Councilor Jones stated that he understands that clearly.  He continued that he wanted to mention that they just
took away a lot of Industrial zoned area during the Marlboro Street Rezoning project, which was originally his
suggestion to the City Council, because it was mixed in with Residential, and he felt it did not belong.  It was
zoned Industrial many years ago when it was serviced by the railroad.  He thought it was a good time for a
change.  If they are going to have any of those industrial uses, like Mr. Lamb mentioned, this is the part of town
where they want it – away from the residential area.  He thinks they should keep it Industrial.  There might be
one of those uses that want to come to town and they do not want them near residential areas.
 
Chair Bosley stated that she agrees with staff’s interpretation of the use of this property and how it benefits the
City moving forward.  She continued that when she looked at the list of items that were being precluded by
changing this zoning, it left all the things they would intend or think are important, and took away the polluting,
difficult industries that she would not necessarily want to see sitting right there on Winchester Street.  She
cannot imagine what an asphalt smelting plant would look like sitting there.  This particular piece of property
fitting in with its neighbors made more sense to her.
 
Chair Bosley asked if other councilors had questions or comments. Hearing none, she stated that she would
entertain a motion.
 
Councilor Workman made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Johnsen.
 
On a vote of 3-1, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends adopting Ordinance O-
2020-04. 



In City Council March 5, 2020.
Referred to the Joint Planning Board and Planning, Licenses and 
Development Committee.

City Clerk



City of Keene, N.H.
Transmittal Form

June 25, 2020

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

FROM: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

ITEM: J.2.

SUBJECT:Relating to Personnel Systems and Procedures

RECOMMENDATION:
On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends adoption of O-2020-07.

ATTACHMENTS:
Description
Ordinance O -2020-07

BACKGROUND:
Asst. City Manager/Human Resources Director Beth Fox was the next speaker. She indicated there are
approximately 12 changes to city code she will be addressing today. This is regarding Personnel Practices,
Chapter 62. 

The first two are to Subdivision Titles, III and VI – this change will move towards language used today – for
exempt employees and non-exempt employees. This is for employees not under a collective bargaining
agreement. 

The next change beginning in Section 246 relates to City’s Holiday Practices. This clarifies that the section of
the Ordinance prescribes specific days off for holidays to apply to positions in the salary schedule, with the
exception of probationary fire and police because their schedules do not account for holidays. There is a
different method of compensation for these positions. 

Chapter 62 – 302 – Probationary Police Officers – Makes it clear probationary police officers will receive what
they get today, which is additional pay for holidays during their employment. The same rule applies to regular
police officers who work holidays. 

Chapter 62 – 303 – Probationary Fire Fighters – Same provision applies as was indicated for police officers
where they are paid over-time pay for working holidays. 

Councilor Remy noted these are changes to language but asked whether it was also a change to practice. Is
something different going to be done tomorrow compared to what is being done today; will there be a change to
payments? Ms. Fox stated relative to holidays it will not – there won’t be anything different to holidays or
holiday pay. The city code and the city handbook would be more in sync. 

Councilor Hooper clarified there are holidays for which employees get time and a half and there are some that
they get paid double time and asked for clarification. Ms. Fox stated there are differences in collective



bargaining agreements across the organization. 

Section 56-425 – Eligibility for Sick and Injury Leave – This section is being proposed to be stricken as it
already says what the rules are for each of those items. 

Section 62-611 – Cost Sharing for Non Bargaining Unit Employees – (1) adjusts cost sharing for non-
bargaining unit employees to the same standard as contract employees (option 1 plan – lower cost plan). 

(2) To clarify if both employee and spouse work as full-time employees – they will be offered a 2-person plan
or a family plan, whichever is applicable to their situation. 

(3) Adjustment deals with scheduling of payments in lieu of health benefits the city offers. Language is added in
bargaining agreements that the city only makes these payments when the city is not subject to a penalty under
the Affordable Care Act, Tricare or any other legislation. 

Section B – Dental Insurance – Language Update – When this was written there were several unions. The city
has moved beyond this language – to eliminate the term “civil union” and replace it with employee’s spouse and
if they are also a full time employee – they will be afforded one plan. 

Section 2 ( c ) – Employee Death and Dismemberment Benefit – Payouts are made according to what is
outlined under state law. 

Councilor Remy referred to the insurance section where the date is being changed effective July 1, 2020 and the
percentages referred to and this is being aligned with another plan and noted this is a future date and asked how
the cost to the city would be affected by this change. Ms. Fox stated this is hard to predict, as the future year
premium cost is unknown. Councilor 
Remy stated he was unfamiliar with Option 1 or Option 2 and asked for clarification. Ms. Fox explained
Option 2 was a high-level plan, provided comprehensive coverage and we only a few employees are in this plan.
Most employees choose Option 1. 

Councilor Clark stated as the city moves towards 100% participation, the incentive might be to get employees
off the City’s plan and asked whether it is the incentive to get employees a better plan. Ms. Fox stated it is not
the intention of the city to move people off the health plan; it is the goal of the city to provide employees with an
adequate plan so that they can come to work and perform their job. She added there is another plan known as
Health Trust the city participates with who offer a variety of plans and encourage employees to sign up for the
coverage they desire. 

Councilor Ormerod referred to 62-611 (a) – this was updated from 11 years ago and asked when staff feels it
would need to be updated again. Ms. Fox stated this change brings the city in line with its collective bargaining
agreements. This would change as those agreements are updated. The current bargaining agreements run
through FY22. The next change won’t happen at least until January 2022 or a little later, depending on where the
city is with collective bargaining units. 

Section 62-613 – Pension and Retirement for Regular Full Time Employees – Updated to align with State
Statute. Eliminate section 4 which has not been applied for some period of time. 

Section 62-614 – Pension, Retirement and Disabilities for Special Public Safety Service Employees - Eliminate
this section – as there are no police auxiliary officers and there are none that are receiving a pension. If the city
should hire any in the future this section can be reinvented. 

Councilor Hooper made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Clark.
 



On a vote of 5-0, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends adoption of O-2020-07.









hfitz-simon
Typewritten Text
In City Council June 18, 2020.Referred to the Finance, Organizationand Personnel Committee. 

hfitz-simon
Typewritten Text
City Clerk


	Meeting Agenda
	06-18-2020 Minutes
	Confirmations
	Nomination
	David Crawford - Police Officers and Firearms
	Let It Shine - Request for Use of City Property - Pumpkin Festival
	Kristin Finnerty - Requesting to Discharge Fireworks on Private Property
	Derek and Linda Stone – Requesting Permission to Remove Trees on City Property
	Dog Warrant for Unlicensed Dogs – City Clerk
	Melanson Heath FY19 Audit Presentation - Finance Director
	Acceptance of Donation - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director
	Acceptance of NH Juvenile Court Diversion Network Funding for Youth Services - Youth Services Manager
	Tracy Keating Gunn/Flight Deck Restaurant - Request for a Waiver of Rent Payments and Property Taxes for the Months of March Through June
	Bee City USA – Conservation Commission
	Petition - Calling for the KPD to be Outfitted with Body Cameras
	Amendment to the Zoning Map – Properties on Krif Road and Winchester Street
	Relating to Personnel Systems and Procedures



